

REDUCING IMPACTS FROM SHIPPING IN MARINE PROTECTED AREAS: A TOOLKIT FOR CANADA

### THE IMPACTS OF SHIPPING ON BENTHIC HABITATS

October 2020

#### Prepared for WWF-Canada by Kristyn Lyons and Elissama De Oliveira Menezes



#### Contents

INTRODUCTION TO BENTHIC HABITATS	3
Ecological overview	3
Benthic habitat policy in Canada	3
THE IMPACTS OF SHIPPING ON BENTHIC HABITATS	4
Anchoring	5
Direct impacts	5
Indirect impacts	5
Grounding and wrecking	6
Biocides	6
Community impacts of wrecks	6
0il	7
Community impacts	8
Discharge	. 9
Ballast water	. 9
Greywater and blackwater	. 9
Table 1. Summary of the impacts of shipping on marine	10
	. 10
Future research and knowledge gaps	. 11
REFERENCES	. 12

## **INTRODUCTION TO BENTHIC HABITATS** Ecological overview

Marine organisms use many habitat types. From coastal mudflats, mangroves, estuaries, salt marshes and intertidal zones to the open ocean, coral reefs and kelp forests, the world's oceans provide a variety of habitats for marine creatures. Marine habitat types are often divided into two categories, coastal and open ocean habitats. Most ocean life can be found in coastal habitats, many of which are benthic. Important benthic habitats are also found farther offshore,<sup>1</sup> such as deep-sea hydrothermal vents, calcareous tubeworm thickets, macroalgal beds, methane or cold seeps, sea pen fields, sponge

gardens and cold-water corals.<sup>2</sup> Such habitats, the communities they support and the ecosystem services they provide are often overlooked when it comes to the identification and protection of important marine habitats.<sup>3</sup> Benthic habitats create dimension in otherwise homogenous sedimented environments.<sup>4</sup> This is known to increase biodiversity, provide important habitats for fish and invertebrates (including many ecologically, economically and culturally important species) and support complex food chains.<sup>5</sup>

### **BENTHIC HABITAT POLICY IN CANADA**

While there are no policies specific to the impacts of shipping on benthic habitats in Canada today, Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) offers policy and management guidance for other industrial extractive sectors, including fishing and oil and gas. For example, the *Policy for Managing the Impacts of Fishing on Sensitive Benthic Areas* outlines a process for identifying sensitive benthic areas, as well as provides a set of guiding principles, many of which could be adapted for shipping.<sup>6</sup> This policy is complemented by the *Ecological Risk Assessment Framework (ERAF) for Coldwater Corals and Sponge Dominated Communities*, which aims to guide the risk assessment process for sensitive benthic areas with respect to fishing.<sup>7</sup> More recently, DFO has assembled literature for the purposes of oil and gas exploration, through which they discuss areas with defined benthic conservation objectives as including "benthic species (demersal fishes and invertebrates); benthic habitats (spawning, nursery and feeding grounds); and Sensitive Benthic Areas (SBAs) (corals, sponges, canyons, seamounts and hydrothermal vents)."<sup>8</sup> As with the fishing policies, some of this information could be considered in the context of impacts from shipping.

<sup>1</sup> NPS, 2016.

<sup>2</sup> Doherty, Johnson and Cox, 2018; MacDiarmid, et al., 2013.

<sup>3</sup> Kritzer, et al., 2016.

<sup>4</sup> Huvenne, Bett, Masson, Bas and Wheeler, 2016.

<sup>5</sup> DFO, 2009; Doherty, Johnson and Cox, 2018.

 <sup>6</sup> DFO. 2009. Policy for Managing the Impacts of Fishing on Sensitive Benthic Areas. dfo-mpo.gc.ca/reports-rapports/regs/sff-cpd/benthi-eng.htm#n6
 7 DFO. 2019. Ecological Risk Assessment Framework (ERAF) for Coldwater Corals and Sponge Dominated Communities.

dfo-mpo.gc.ca/reports-rapports/regs/sff-cpd/risk-ecolo-risque-eng.htm

<sup>8</sup> Oak, T.G. 2020. Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Activities in Areas with Defined Benthic Conservation Objectives: A Review of Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures. DFO Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Resource Document 2020/040. vi + 55 p.

# THE IMPACTS OF SHIPPING ON BENTHIC HABITATS

Shipping can negatively impact benthic habitats, both directly and indirectly. Anchoring, grounding and wrecking all have direct impacts by causing physical damage, but they may also have indirect impacts such as resuspension of sediment.<sup>9</sup> Conversely, other shipping-related risks like greywater and blackwater discharge may have indirect impacts on benthic habitats by changing water chemistry and nutrient load,<sup>10</sup> while oil spills may impact the structure of benthic communities.<sup>11</sup> This report provides an overview of available literature examining the impacts of shipping on benthic habitats, as well as providing a summary of all activities and impacts in Table 1.



<sup>9</sup> Huvenne, Bett, Masson, Bas and Wheeler, 2016; Leatherbarrow, 2003

11 Kotta, Aps and Herkül, 2008

<sup>10</sup> VARD, 2018.

### ANCHORING

#### **Direct impacts**

Anchoring is a common practice in both commercial shipping and recreational boating. The anchor and associated chains and cables have the potential to cause significant damage to benthic habitats since they drag along the seafloor and can wrap around reef organisms.<sup>12</sup> The impacts of anchoring were first studied in the 1970s when researchers found that anchoring had damaged approximately 20 per cent of a coral reef in Florida.<sup>13</sup> This damage is a direct, and now widely studied, impact of this practice. When anchors are lowered, they can cause physical damage to benthic habitats by either crushing organisms buried within the sediments or by breaking off pieces of coral and other benthic structures.<sup>14</sup> The extent of the damage done by anchors is dependent upon their size and the type of anchor used.<sup>15</sup> In addition to the damage it does to corals, anchoring is also known to impact seagrass beds. Swaths of seagrass may be pulled up when anchors are retrieved or removed by boat anchors scouring the seafloor,<sup>16</sup> dislodging rhizomes and leaves of these easily disturbed grasses. Both seagrass beds and coral reefs are known to be slow to recover from disturbances, although seagrass recovery is thought to be species-specific.<sup>17</sup> Studies show that some seagrass beds may take over a year to recover from the impacts of anchoring, leaving habitat fragmented and organisms vulnerable during the recovery period.<sup>18</sup> Coldwater corals and sponges have been known to be extremely slow to recover from physical disturbance because of their long lifespans and slow growth rates. A recent literature review from DFO points to the importance of avoiding impacts, especially for deep-sea corals and sponges.19

#### **Indirect impacts**

The physical damage caused by anchoring may lead to other indirect impacts. Damage to benthic habitats is known to reduce habitat complexity overall, especially in three-dimensional habitats like coral reefs.<sup>20</sup> The indirect impacts on associated fauna can be extremely detrimental, especially for organisms closely associated with impacted habitats.<sup>21</sup> For example, in New Zealand, researchers observed a decrease in abundance of a pinnid bivalve (Atrina zelandica) because of the impacts of anchoring.<sup>22</sup> In the Mediterranean Sea, anchoring has threatened the populations of two endemic mussels, Pinna nobilis and *P. oceanica*. The impacts of anchoring on these two species are especially pronounced in shallow waters where recreational boating is more common.<sup>23</sup> Additionally, direct destruction of benthic habitat, such as seagrass beds is likely to lead to a reduction in food availability for surrounding filter feeders. Seagrasses are known to increase food supply for filter feeders by reducing the current flow and trapping food particles.<sup>24</sup> Commercially and recreationally important fish and invertebrate species may also be affected by the indirect impacts of anchoring due to damage of their habitat.<sup>25</sup> Finally, habitat loss caused by anchoring may lead to the establishment of invasive species. When benthic habitat is damaged by anchoring, competition from native species is reduced, making it easier for opportunistic invasive species to move in and colonize.26

Resuspension of sediments caused by anchoring can also be a major issue for benthic species. Organisms may be smothered by an increase of particulate matter in the water column, reducing the health

- 20 Giglio, Ternes, Mendes, Cordeiro and Ferreira, 2017; La Manna, Donno, Sarà and Ceccherelli, 2015.
- 21 Hendriks, et al., 2013; Milazzo, Badalamenti, Ceccherelli and Chemello, 2004.
- 22 Backhurst and Cole, 2000.

26 Ibid.

<sup>12</sup> Giglio, Ternes, Mendes, Cordeiro and Ferreira, 2017.

<sup>13</sup> Vázquez-Luis, Borg, Morell, Banach-Esteve and Deudero, 2015.

<sup>14</sup> Giglio, Ternes, Mendes, Cordeiro and Ferreira, 2017.

<sup>15</sup> Milazzo, Badalamenti, Ceccherelli and Chemello, 2004

<sup>16</sup> Leatherbarrow, 2003.

<sup>17</sup> Milazzo, Badalamenti, Ceccherelli and Chemello, 2004.

<sup>18</sup> Leatherbarrow, 2003; Vázquez-Luis, Borg, Morell, Banach-Esteve and Deudero, 2015.

<sup>19</sup> Oak, T.G. 2020. Oil and gas exploration and production activities in areas with defined benthic conservation objectives: A review of potential impacts and mitigation measures. DFO Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Resource Document 2020/040. vi + 55 p.

<sup>23</sup> Vázquez-Luis, Borg, Morell, Banach-Esteve and Deudero, 2015.

<sup>24</sup> Hendriks, et al., 2013.

<sup>25</sup> La Manna, Donno, Sarà and Ceccherelli, 2015.

of the organisms.<sup>27</sup> Suspended sediment may also decrease light penetration in the water column. If light is unable to reach the seafloor as usual, primary productivity may be impacted. Additionally, resuspended sediments may rerelease nutrients into the water column, changing the nutrient load of the surrounding waters, which can increase the potential of phytoplankton blooms.<sup>28</sup> Sediment resuspension can potentially affect oxygen concentrations and the exchange of organic carbon and can impact the distribution of benthic fauna.<sup>29</sup>

### **GROUNDING AND WRECKING**

Some of the impacts of a ship grounding (contacting the seafloor) or wrecking are similar to the impacts of anchoring. Like anchoring, grounding or wrecking causes physical damage to benthic habitats by crushing or gouging the seafloor. This may displace organisms that had been living in or near the affected area and resuspend sediments. Changes in species composition and abundance may also occur.<sup>30</sup> Additionally, invasive algae may colonize areas impacted by grounding,<sup>31</sup> as is seen in areas impacted by anchoring.

#### **Biocides**

Unlike anchoring, another issue of ship grounding is the potential release of biofouling compounds into the marine environment.<sup>32</sup> In a 2002 study, Marshall and colleagues discuss the damage caused by the grounding of the *Bunga Teratai Satu* vessel from Malaysia on the Sudbury Reef off the coast of Australia in November of 2000. The vessel caused localized physical damage, destroying approximately 1,500m<sup>2</sup> of the reef. Arguably the worst of the damage resulted from the antifouling paint that was scraped off the ship's hull; the paint contained a biocide known to be extremely toxic to marine organisms. This biocide was then distributed by ocean currents and the propellers of the ship, damaging or killing hard and soft corals in the vicinity

- 29 Thompson, et al., 2017.
- 30 CSAS, 2015; Schroeder, Green, DeMartini and Kenyon, 2008.
- 31 Schroeder, Green, DeMartini and Kenyon, 2008.
- 32 Marshall, et al., 2002; Sonak, 2009.
- 33 Marshall, et al., 2002.
- 34 Sonak, 2009.35 NOAA 2008
- 35 NOAA, 2008.
- 36 Costa, Zamprogno, Pedruzzi, Dalbem and Tognella, 2013.
- 37 Davies, Duffy, Bennie and Gaston, 2014.38 Ruuskapen et al. 2015
- 39 Ibid.

of the grounded vessel.<sup>33</sup> Additionally, biocides may attach to particulate matter in the water column, eventually settling onto the seafloor as sediment.<sup>34</sup> In 2008, the International Maritime Organization (IMO) enforced the *International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships*, controlling the use of harmful biocides.<sup>35</sup> Despite enforcement of this convention, the harmful substances are still used on vessels in many developing countries.<sup>36</sup>

#### **Community impacts of wrecks**

In addition to the dangers of crushing organisms in benthic environments, which is common between wrecking and grounding,<sup>37</sup> wrecking may result in other changes to benthic habitats. The presence of a wreck on the seafloor can impact sediment topography, morphology and characteristics, all of which affect how suitable an area is for benthic organisms.<sup>38</sup> Turbulence and flow velocities may increase around shipwrecks as well, and wrecks may lead to site-specific hydrodynamic processes that impact the organic content of the surrounding waters.<sup>39</sup> Wrecks may also lead to changes in water chemistry as chemicals from metals and contaminants leech into the marine environment over time. These impacts are likely to have varying and context-specific impacts on benthic communities.<sup>40</sup>

<sup>27</sup> CSAS, 2015.

<sup>28</sup> Leatherbarrow, 2003.

<sup>40</sup> Davis, Carlson and Caselle, 2018.

Changes in seafloor geomorphology and organic content are likely to impact surrounding communities, with some studies showing negative impacts on downstream communities due to sediment accumulation.<sup>41</sup> Conversely, materials leeching from wrecks may promote growth in some benthic species, which may outcompete local species that pre-existed the wreck. A shift in benthic community composition may occur as opportunistic species have the potential to become the more dominant species in the community. Such shifts are difficult, and in some cases, impossible to reverse. Impacted corals may take decades or even centuries to recover from wreck-related disturbances.<sup>42</sup> Some organizations interested in ecotourism or the easy disposal of an unwanted vessel may be interested in

### OIL

Oil spills resulting from shipping frequently occur because of the large quantities of oil being transported.<sup>46</sup> While the results of an oil spill can be devastating for marine organisms, the impacts are dependent upon the properties of the oil, toxicity, volume, ecosystem and species affected.<sup>47</sup> Oil coats shorelines, leading to immediate impacts on organisms that utilize coastal habitats, but the impacts on subtidal habitats are more subtle and not as well understood.48 Tidal movements and oceanographic currents spread spilled oil, moving it into different habitats, often including benthic areas.<sup>49</sup> The impacts of oil on benthic organisms are largely dependent upon the organisms' mobility. Many benthic organisms are sedentary, meaning they are unable to

sinking a vessel to create an artificial reef. In 2011, Smith and colleagues found that, in most cases, any boosts in biodiversity observed from purposefully sinking a ship are probably temporary because any sedimentological differences are unlikely to last after the shipwreck has eroded away.<sup>43</sup> Finally, one study shows that some corals may be able to extend their range by colonizing artificial structures like wrecks and oil and gas platforms, the impacts of which are likely case-specific.<sup>44</sup>

Grounding and wrecking may also release ballast water, fuel, oil, discharge and goods carried by ship into the environment.<sup>45</sup> The sections below on oil and discharge elaborate on how their release via may impact benthic habitats.

escape the impacts of an oil spill if their habitat is affected.<sup>50</sup> Any organisms that are unable to leave the affected area will likely be impacted in some way, but how and to what extent they are impacted depends on the ways in which they use the habitat and their life history.<sup>51</sup> Additionally, the feeding mode of benthic organisms may play a role in the impacts an oil spill has. For example, Kotta and colleagues point out in a 2008 study that suspension feeders depend on pelagic productivity, while benthic grazers rely on the production of both micro- and macroalgae, and deposit-feeders need sedimenting debris to survive. Because different functional groups are impacted by different environmental changes and factors, a high degree of variability can be expected in the response of benthic organisms to oil spills.52

- 42 Davis, Carlson and Caselle, 2018.
- 43 Smith, Kregting, Fern and Fraser, 2011.

46 Stevens, et al., 2012.

- 48 Kotta, Aps and Herkül, 2008.
- 49 Egres, Martins, Oliveira and Lana, 2012.

- 51 Abdulla and Linden, 2008.
- 52 Kotta, Aps and Herkül, 2008

<sup>41</sup> Ruuskanen, et al., 2015.

<sup>44</sup> Coolen, et al., 2015.

<sup>45</sup> CSAS, 2015.

<sup>47</sup> Etkin, 2009.

<sup>50</sup> Egres, Martins, Oliveira and Lana, 2012; Kotta, Aps and Herkül, 2008.

#### **Community impacts**

Despite the variability benthic organisms exhibit in their responses to oil spills, some community-wide impacts have been frequently observed. Oil spills may suffocate organisms or become toxic when ingested. These effects may impact habitat characteristics and potentially lead to the deterioration of important habitat-forming species, which is likely to have indirect impacts on other benthic life.<sup>53</sup> Oil spills have also been known to reduce macrofauna feeding activity, suppress photosynthesis of phytoplankton in some species, impact metabolism in benthic organisms, reduce biomass and diversity of benthic fauna, and decrease the density of small benthic invertebrates.54 Community composition may also change, as species more tolerant to the impacts of oil spills may thrive while more sensitive species decrease in abundance.55 These impacts are likely to alter the function of the benthic communities and cause major changes when combined with the impacts of other stressors.56 Finally, these effects may persist for long periods of time. The results of oil spills on benthic communities have been known to last up to 20 years,57 and experimental data has shown that the toxicity levels remain high after five vears.58

Although many benthic habitats have been observed to have suffered significant negative impacts from oil spills, others have shown resilience.<sup>59</sup> Strong seasonality, high exposure, strong wave action and short generation times can all help benthic communities to recover more quickly from oil spills, and therefore be more resilient.<sup>60</sup>



- 54 Egres, Martins, Oliveira and Lana, 2012; Lee and Lin, 2013.
- 55 Egres, Martins, Oliveira and Lana, 2012.

- 57 Kotta, Aps and Herkül, 2008.
- 58 Polmear, Stark, Roberts and MicMinn, 2015.
- 59 Abdulla and Linden, 2008
- 60 Kotta, Aps and Herkül, 2008.

<sup>53</sup> Ibid.

<sup>56</sup> Abdulla and Linden , 2008.

### DISCHARGE

Shipping-related discharge, including sewage, greywater, ballast water, garbage, cargo and bilge water, pose threats to marine organisms.<sup>61</sup> These threats are known to scientists and managers, but the impacts and risks to specific organisms and benthic communities are not clear. Despite what is known about these threats, they are incidental to normal shipping operations and therefore occur regularly.<sup>62</sup>

#### **Ballast water**

The threats posed to marine organisms differ depending on what substance is being discharged from vessels. Ballast water exchange poses major threats to both marine and freshwater ecosystems. Water carried in vessels may contain non-native species that could colonize the environments they are released in, potentially resulting in changes to regional and local ecosystems.63 The most wellknown example of this is the spread of the zebra mussel (Dreissena polymorpha), a bivalve native to Europe. Zebra mussels were introduced to North America in the late 1980s, and while the specific time and method are uncertain, it is known that the organism made its way to North America by ship and was released during a ballast water exchange. As a well-known biofouling organism that has rapid dispersal, the presence of the zebra mussel in North America has caused many issues for shipping companies and ecosystems.<sup>64</sup>

#### **Greywater and blackwater**

Greywater and blackwater (sewage) discharge from ships can also cause major issues for marine organisms. Sewage released into marine environments may contain pathogenic bacteria. viruses, fungi, organic material and other chemicals.65 The increase in organic material may promote algal growth, which may limit the amount of light that reaches the seafloor. This could impact benthic organisms that photosynthesize, as well as corals that have symbiotic relationships with algae called zooxanthellae. Less light reaching the seafloor could result in reduced growth for these corals. Additionally, raw or partially treated sewage has the potential to make corals less resilient to other stressors<sup>66</sup> and contaminate shellfish beds.<sup>67</sup> Greywater also contains high nutrient levels and oxvgen demanding substances, like sewage, causing similar issues.<sup>68</sup> Additionally, greywater associated with vessels' washing machines is a source of microplastic in the ocean, which can impact all levels of the food web and enhanced risk of other pollutants, such as pesticides.69



61 Transport Canada, 2010; World Shipping Council, 2019.

- 64 Griffiths, Schloesser, Leach and Kovalak, 1991.
- 65 Aronson, Thatje, McClintock and Hughes.
- 66 Thomas, 2007.
- 67 Nowlan and Kwan, 2001.
- 68 Ibid.
- 69 De Falco, Di Pace, Cocca and Avella, 2019; Kanhai, Gardfeldt, Krumpen, et al., 2020.

<sup>62</sup> World Shipping Council, 2019.

<sup>63</sup> Ibid.

#### Table 1. Summary of the impacts of shipping on marine benthic habitats

Stressor	Direct impacts	Indirect impacts
Anchoring	Crush, dislodge or otherwise physically damage benthic organisms <sup>70</sup>	Reduce habitat complexity <sup>71</sup>
		<ul> <li>Cause decline of organisms closely associated with corals and/or seagrass beds<sup>72</sup></li> </ul>
		Reduce available food for filter feeders <sup>73</sup>
		Increase risk of invasive species colonizing an impacted area <sup>74</sup>
	Resuspension of sediment <sup>75</sup>	Risk of smothering benthic organisms, impacting organism health <sup>76</sup>
		<ul> <li>Decreased light penetration to seafloor could impact primary productivity<sup>77</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Increase nutrient load in the water column, leading to phytoplankton blooms<sup>78</sup></li> </ul>
Grounding	Physical damage to benthic organisms <sup>79</sup>	<ul> <li>Displace organisms, change community composition, resuspend sediments, and increase risk of non-native species colonizing the impacted area<sup>80</sup></li> </ul>
	Release of biofouling $compounds^{8_1}$	Negatively impact coral health and other benthic organisms <sup>82</sup>
Wrecking	Physical damage to benthic organisms <sup>83</sup>	<ul> <li>Alter chemical makeup in the water column, leading to phase shift and negatively impacting organisms like corals<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>
	Impact on flow velocity and turbulence surrounding the wreck <sup>85</sup>	• Alter chemical makeup in the water column, making habitats less suitable for some organisms <sup>86</sup>
	Leeching chemicals <sup>87</sup>	Cause change in community composition as more resilient organisms     thrive <sup>88</sup>
Oil	Suffocate organisms or become toxic to organisms when ingested <sup>89</sup>	Cause deterioration of habitat-forming species, impacting habitat characteristics and other benthic life <sup>90</sup>
		• Reduce feeding activity in macrofauna, supress photosynthesis, impact metabolism of organisms, reduce biomass and diversity of benthic fauna, and decrease the density of invertebrates <sup>91</sup>
		Change community composition <sup>92</sup>

<sup>70</sup> Giglio, Ternes, Mendes, Cordeiro and Ferreira, 2017; Leatherbarrow, 2003.

- 84 Davies, Duffy, Bennie and Gaston, 2014.
- 85 Ruuskanen, et al., 2015.

<sup>71</sup> Giglio, Ternes, Mendes, Cordeiro and Ferreira, 2017; La Manna, Donno, Sarà and Ceccherelli, 2015.

<sup>72</sup> Vázquez-Luis, Borg, Morell, Banach-Esteve and Deudero, 2015.

<sup>73</sup> Hendriks, et al., 2013.

<sup>74</sup> La Manna, Donno, Sarà and Ceccherelli, 2015.

<sup>75</sup> CSAS, 2015.

<sup>76</sup> Ibid.

<sup>77</sup> Leatherbarrow, 2003.

<sup>78</sup> Ibid.

<sup>79</sup> CSAS, 2015; Schroeder, Green, DeMartini and Kenyon, 2008.

<sup>80</sup> Ibid.

<sup>81</sup> Marshall, et al., 2002; Sonak, 2009.

<sup>82</sup> Marshall, et al., 2002.

<sup>83</sup> Davis, Carlson and Caselle, 2018.

<sup>86</sup> Ibid.

<sup>87</sup> Davies, Duffy, Bennie and Gaston, 2014.

<sup>88</sup> Ibid.

<sup>89</sup> Kotta, Aps and Herkül, 2008.

<sup>90</sup> Ibid.

<sup>91</sup> Egres, Martins, Oliveira and Lana, 2012; Lee & Lin, 2013.

<sup>92</sup> Egres, Martins, Oliveira and Lana, 2012.

Stressor		Direct impacts	Indirect impacts
Discharge	Ballast water exchange	Potential release of non- native species <sup>93</sup>	Change habitat composition of nearby ecosystems 94
	Blackwater and greywater	Increase organic content in water <sup>95</sup>	• Promote algal growth, limiting the penetration of sunlight to the seafloor, and impacting photosynthesis of benthic organisms <sup>96</sup>
			Make corals less resilient to other stressors <sup>97</sup>
			Contaminate shellfish beds <sup>98</sup>

### FUTURE RESEARCH AND KNOWLEDGE GAPS

Despite all risks that shipping poses to benthic habitats, there is a general lack of knowledge surrounding their potential impacts. In addition to the risks described above, other risks like light pollution, anthropogenic noise and chronic oiling could have devastating impacts on benthic communities. Growing evidence shows that ocean noise can impact a wide range of species, though research has previously focused on the impacts on marine mammals and acute impacts of noise resulting from seismic air guns, sonar and pile driving, rather than the chronic noise resulting from shipping.99 Species' activities and function of ecosystems may be impacted by chronic anthropogenic noise, but knowledge on the subject is still limited.<sup>100</sup> Additionally, some research shows that artificial light can impact biomass and community composition of benthic primary producers. This could have far-reaching impacts for benthic communities, but more research is necessary to determine how organisms are impacted and how to move forward with management.<sup>101</sup> Finally, the impacts of chronic oiling on benthic habitats are seldom discussed in the literature. One study found that a site near an oil refinery lacked species found in other similar areas,102 but the impacts of chronic oiling on benthic habitats, in general, appear to be understudied. Overall, more research is needed on the impacts of shipping on benthic habitats specifically, so that the risks can be better understood by regulators and marine

94 Griffiths, Schloesser, Leach and Kovalak, 1991; World Shipping Council, 2019.

100 Solan, et al., 2016.



<sup>93</sup> World Shipping Council, 2019.

<sup>95</sup> Aronson, Thatje, McClintock and Hughes.

<sup>96</sup> Thomas, 2007.

<sup>97</sup> Ibid.

<sup>98</sup> Nowlan and Kwan, 2001.

<sup>99</sup> Chen, et al., 2017.

<sup>101</sup> Grubisic, et al., 2017.

<sup>102</sup> Egres, Martins, Oliveira and Lana, 2012.

## REFERENCES

- Abdulla, A. and Linden, O. (Eds.). 2008. Direct Physical Effects of Marine Vessels on Benthic Habitats and Species. *Maritime Traffic Effects on Biodiversity in the Mediterranean Sea* (Vol. 1). Malaga, Spain: IUCN Centre for Mediterranean Cooperation.
- Aronson, R.B., Thatje, S., McClintock, J.B. and K.A. Hughes. (n.d.). Anthropogenic Impacts on Marine Ecosystems in Antarctica. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1223(1), pp 87-107. doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05926.x
- Backhurst, M.K. and Cole, R.G. 2000. Biological Impacts of Boating at Kawau Island, North-eastern New Zealand. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 60, pp 239-251. doi.org/10.1006/jema.2000.0382
- Chen, F., Shapiro, G.I., Bennett, K.A., Ingram, S.N., Thompson, D., Vincent, C., Russell, D.J.F. and C.B. Embling. 2017. Shipping Noise in a Dynamic Sea: A Case Study of Grey Seals in the Celtic Sea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 114(1), pp 372-383. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.09.054
- Coolen, J.W., Lengkeek, W., Lewis, G., Bos, O.G., Walraven, L.V. and U.V. Dongen. 2015. First Record of *Caryophyllia smithii* in the Central Southern North Sea: Artificial Reefs Affect Range Extensions of Sessile Benthic Species. *Marine Biodiversity Records*, 8. doi.org/10.1017/S1755267215001165
- Costa, M.B., Zamprogno, G.C., Pedruzzi, F.C., Dalbem, G.B. and M.M. Tognella. 2013. Assessing the Continuous Impact of Tributyltin from Antifouling Paints in a Brazilian Mangrove Area Using Intersex in *Littoraria angulifera* (Lamarck, 1822) as Biomarker. doi.org/10.1155/2013/769415
- CSAS. 2015. Shipping Pathways of Effects: An Overview. Canada: Department of Fisheries and Oceans. waves-vagues.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/Library/364433.pdf
- Davies, T.W., Duffy, J.P., Bennie, J. and K.J. Gaston. 2014. The Nature, Extent, and Ecological Implications of Marine Light Pollution. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 12(6), pp 347-355. doi.org/10.1890/130281
- Davis, K., Carlson, P.M. and J. Caselle. 2018. Herbivorous Fish Populations Respond Positively to a Shipwreck Removal and Associated Alteration of Benthic Habitat. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5. doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00406
- De Falco, F., Di Pace, E., Cocca, M. and M. Avella. 2019. The Contribution of Washing Processes of Synthetic Clothes to Microplastic Pollution. *Scientific Reports*, 9, p 6633. doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-43023-x
- DFO. 2009. Policy for Managing the Impacts of Fishing on Sensitive Benthic Areas. Canada.
- dfo-mpo.gc.ca/reports-rapports/regs/sff-cpd/benthi-eng.htm
- Doherty, B., Johnson, S.D. and S.P. Cox. 2018. Using Autonomous Video to Estimate the Bottom-Contact Area of Longline Trap Gear and Presence–Absence of Sensitive Benthic Habitat. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 75(5), pp 797-812. doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2016-0483
- Egres, A.G., Martins, C.C., Oliveira, V.M. and P.D. Lana. 2012. Effects of an Experimental in situ Diesel Oil Spill on the Benthic Community of Unvegetated Tidal Flats in a Subtropical Estuary (Paranaguá Bay, Brazil). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 64(12), pp 2681-2691. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.10.007

- Etkin, D.S. 2009. Worldwide Analysis of In-Port Vessel Operational Lubricant Discharges and Leakages. *Environmental Research Consulting*, pp 1529-1553.
- Giglio, V.J., Ternes, M.L., Mendes, T.C., Cordeiro, C.A. and C.E. Ferreira. 2017. Anchoring Damages to Benthic Organisms in a Subtropical Scuba Dive Hotspot. *Journal of Coastal Conservation*, 21(2), pp 311-316. doi.org/10.1007/s11852-017-0507-7
- Griffiths, R.W., Schloesser, D.W., Leach, J.H. and W.P. Kovalak. 1991. Distribution and Dispersal of the Zebra Mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in the Great Lakes Region. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 48(8), pp 1381-1388. doi.org/10.1139/f91-165
- Grubisic, M., Singer, G., Bruno, M.C., Grunsven, R.H., Manfrin, A., Monaghan, M.T. and F. Hölker. 2017. Artificial Light at Night Decreases Biomass and Alters Community Composition of Benthic Primary Producers in a Sub-Alpine Stream. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 6(62), pp 2799-2810. doi.org/10.1002/lno.10607
- Hendriks, I.E., Tenan, S., Tavecchia, G., Marbà, N., Jordà, G., Deudero, S. Álvarez, E. and C.M. Duarte. 2013. Boat Anchoring Impacts Coastal Populations of the Pen Shell, the Largest Bivalve in the Mediterranean. *Biological Conservation*, 160, pp 105-113. doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.01.012
- Huvenne, V.A., Bett, B.J., Masson, D.G., Bas, T.P. and A.J. Wheeler. 2016. Effectiveness of a Deep-Sea Cold-Water Coral Marine Protected Area, Following Eight Years of Fisheries Closure. *Biological Conservation*, 200, pp 60-69. doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.05.030
- Kanhai, L.D., Gardfeldt, K., Krumpen, T., et al. 2020. Microplastics in Sea Ice and Seawater Beneath Ice Floes from the Arctic Ocean. *Scientific Reports*, 10, p 5004. doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61948-6
- Kotta, J., Aps, R. and K. Herkül. 2008. Predicting Ecological Resilience of Marine Benthic Communities Facing a High Risk of Oil Spills. *Environmental Problems in Coastal Regions VII*, I, pp 101-110. doi.org/10.2495/CENV080091
- Kritzer, J.P., DeLucia, M.B., Greene, E., Shumway, C., Topolski, M.F., Thomas-Blate, J., Chiarella, L.A., Davy, K.B. and Smith, K. 2016. The Importance of Benthic Habitats for Coastal Fisheries. *BioScience*, 66(4), pp 274-284. doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biw014
- La Manna, G., Donno, Y., Sarà, G. and G. Ceccherelli. 2015. The Detrimental Consequences for Seagrass of Ineffective Marine Park Management Related to Boat Anchoring. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 90(1-2), pp 160-166. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.11.001
- Leatherbarrow, K.E. 2003. Monitoring Environmental Impacts of Recreational Boat Anchoring on Eelgrass (*Zostera marina L.*) and Benthic Invertebrates in the Gulf Islands National Park Reserve of Canada. Calgary, Alberta, Canada: University of Calgary.
- Lee, L.H. and Lin, H.J. 2013. Effects of an Oil Spill on Benthic Community Production and Respiration on Subtropical Intertidal Sandflats. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 73(1), pp 291-299. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.05.006
- MacDiarmid, A., Bowden, D., Cummings, V., Morrison, M., Jones, E., Kelly, M., David, A.M. and A. Rowden. 2013. *Sensitive Marine Benthic Habitats Defined*. mfe.govt.nz/sites/default/files/sensitive-marinebenthic-habitats-defined.pdf

Marshall, P., Christie, C., Dobbs, K., Green, A., Haynes, D., Brodie, J., Michalek-Wagner, K., Smith, A., Storrie, J. and E. Turak. 2002. Grounded Ship Leaves TBT-Based Antifoulant on the Great Barrier Reef: An Overview of the Environmental Response. *Spill Science & Technology Bulletin*, 7(5-6), pp 215-221. doi.org/10.1016/S1353-2561(02)00040-3

Milazzo, M., Badalamenti, F., Ceccherelli, G. and R. Chemello. 2004. Boat Anchoring on Posidonia Oceanica Beds in a Marine Protected Area (Italy, Western Mediterranean): Effect of Anchor Types in Different Anchoring Stages. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 299(1), pp 51-62. doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2003.09.003

NOAA. 2008. Harmful Ships' Paint Systems Outlawed as International Convention Enters into Force. gc.noaa.gov/documents/091608-imo-anti-fouling.asp.htm

Nowlan, L., & Kwan, I. (2001). Cruise control- regulating cruise ship pollution on the Pacific coast of Canada. wcel.org/sites/default/files/publications/CruiseControl.pdf

NPS. 2016. Ocean Habitats. nps.gov/subjects/oceans/ocean-habitats.htm

Polmear, R., Stark, J.S., Roberts, D. and A. MicMinn. 2015. The Effects of Oil Pollution on Antarctic Benthic Diatom Communities Over 5 Years. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 90(1), pp 33-40. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.11.035

Ruuskanen, A.T., Kraufvelin, P., Alvik, R., Díaz, E.R., Honkonen, J., Kanerva, J., Karell, K., Kekäläinen, P., Lappalainen, J., Mikkola, R., Mustasaari, T., Nappu, N., Nieminen, A., Roininen, J. and K. Svahnbäck. 2015. Benthic Conditions around a Historic Shipwreck: *Vrouw Maria* (1771) in the Northern Baltic proper. *Continental Shelf Research*, 98, pp 1-12. doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2015.02.006

Schroeder, R.E., Green, A.L., DeMartini, E.E. and J.C. Kenyon. 2008. Long-Term Effects of a Ship-Grounding on Coral Reef Fish Assemblages at Rose Atoll, American Samoa. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 82(3), p 20.

Smith, A.M., Kregting, L., Fern, S. and C.I. Fraser. 2011. Sedimentology of a Wreck: The *Rainbow Warrior* Revisited. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(11), pp 2412-2419. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.08.028

Solan, M., Hauton, C., Godbold, J.A., Wood, C.L., Leighton, T.G. and P. White. 2016. Anthropogenic Sources of Underwater Sound Can Modify How Sediment-Dwelling Invertebrates Mediate Ecosystem Properties. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), p 20540. doi.org/10.1038/srep20540

Sonak, S. 2009. Implications of Organotins in the Marine Environment and their Prohibition. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90, S1-S3. doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2008.08.012

Stevens, T., Boden, A., Arthur, J.M., Schlacher, T.A., Rissik, D. and S. Atkinson. 2012. Initial Effects of a Moderate-Sized Oil Spill on Benthic Assemblage Structure of a Subtropical Rocky Shore. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 109*, 107-115. doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2012.05.032

Thomas, E. 2007. Spatial Analysis of Cruise Lines and Critical Benthic Habitats. Duke University. hdl.handle.net/10161/303

Thompson, C.E., Williams, M.E., Amoudry, L., Hull, T., Reynolds, S., Panton, A. and G.R. Fones. 2017. Benthic Controls of Resuspension in UK Shelf Seas: Implications for Resuspension Frequency. *Continental Shelf Research*. doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2017.12.005

Transport Canada. 2010. Discharges to Water. tc.gc.ca/eng/marinesafety/ debs-arctic-environment-discharges-355.htm

VARD. 2018. Canadian Arctic Greywater Report: Estimates, Forecasts, and Treatment Technologies. Toronto. d2akrl9rvxl3z3.cloudfront.net/ downloads/vard\_360\_000\_01\_dfr\_rev2\_29\_05\_2018.pdf Vázquez-Luis, M., Borg, J.A., Morell, C., Banach-Esteve, G. and S. Deudero. 2015. Influence of Boat Anchoring on *Pinna nobilis*: A Field Experiment Using Mimic Units. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 66(9), 786. doi.org/10.1071/MF14285

World Shipping Council. 2019. Vessel Discharges. worldshipping.org: worldshipping.org/industry-issues/environment/vessel-discharges

For more information about this report or other components of the Toolkit, please contact **Kim Dunn kdunn@wwfcanada.org** 



A Canada with abundant wildlife, where nature and people thrive.

wwf.ca